#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2008-CA-00078

MARCO J. BORNE AND THE ESTATE OF ELDRIDGE DUPREE, DECEASED, BY AND THROUGH HIS PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE, NICHOLE DUPREE, AND THE WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF ELDRIDGE DUPREE, DECEASED

VS.

**DUNLOP TIRE CORPORATION, INC.** 

## APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Appeal from Circuit Court of Rankin County, Mississippi
The Honorable Samac Richardson

May 28, 2008

Counsel for Appellant:

Mark D. Lumpkin (MSB James R. Reeves (MSB LUMPKIN & REEVES, PLLC Post Office Drawer 1388 Biloxi, MS 39533 Telephone: (228) 374-5151

### Marco J. Borne, et al., v. Dunlop Tire Corporation, Inc.

#### Case No. 2008-CA-00078

I.

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Whether the trial court erred in granting summary judgment to the Defendants?
- 2. Whether the trial court erred in striking the Affidavit in support of the Plaintiffs' Response in Opposition to Motion for Summary Judgment?

V.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Nature of Case

This is a products liability case involving a defective tire manufactured by the Defendants. The tire was placed on a Ford Explorer owned and operated by Marco J. Borne. The tire malfunctioned, causing the Ford Explorer to go out of control and flip. Mr. Borne was seriously injured and his passenger, Eldridge Dupree, was killed.

## B. Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below

On September 27, 201, the Appellants Marco J. Borne and the Estate of Eldridge Dupree, Deceased (hereafter "Borne") filed a Complaint against Bridgestone/Firestone, Inc., Ford Motor Company, Dunlop Tire Corporation, and Interstate Ford, Inc. (R. 15). Borne and Mr. Dupree were traveling in a 1992 Ford Explorer equipped with Dunlop RV Radial Rover tires. The right rear tire malfunctioned and the Explorer went out of control and rolled over. Borne was seriously injured and Mr. Dupree was killed.

On October 11, 2007, the Defendant Dunlop Tire Corporation ("Dunlop") filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. 48). Dunlop asserted that there was no evidence that

the Dunlop tire in Borne's possession was mounted on the Ford Explorer at the time of the accident. On November 19, 2007, Borne filed his Response in Opposition to Dunlop's Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. 240). After a hearing, the Circuit Court granted Dunlop's motion and on December 10, 2007, entered Final Judgment in favor of the Defendants. (R. 259). Borne timely filed a Notice of Appeal on January 4, 2008. (R. 260).

VI.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court impermissibly decided issues of material fact in ruling on Dunlop's Motion for Summary Judgment. In addition, the trial court incorrectly struck the Affidavit provided by Borne even though Dunlop had not filed a Motion to Strike and Borne was not provided an opportunity to respond to such motion. The trial court granted Dunlop's Motion for Summary Judgment even though there were genuine issues of material fact demonstrating that the tire in Borne's possession was, in fact, the tire on the Ford Explorer at the time of the accident. For these reasons, summary judgment should not have been granted, and the trial court should be reversed.

VII.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### C. Standard of Review

Summary judgment should be granted only if there are no genuine issues of material fact. See M.R.C.P. 56(c). This Court reviews a trial court's granting of summary judgment *de novo*. Powell v. Clay County Bd. of Supervisors, 924 So. 2d 523, 526 (Miss.

2006). All evidentiary matters are viewed in a light most favorable to the non-movant. Morgan v. City of Ruleville, 627 So. 2d 275, 277 (Miss. 1993). The movant has the burden of proving that there is no genuine issue of material fact and it is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Daniels v. GNB, Inc., 629 So. 2d 595, 599 (Miss. 1993). When there is even the slightest doubt over whether a factual issue exists, the Court should resolve in favor of the non-moving party. Cothern v. Vickers, Inc., 759 So. 2d 1241, 1245 (Miss. 2000).

### D. Trial Court Impermissibly Resolved Issues of Fact

Supply Co, Inc. v. Zurich-American Ins. Co., 501 So. 2d 412 (Miss. 1987); Smith v. H.C. Bailey Companies, 477 So. 2d 224, 234 (Miss. 1985). The question is whether there are issues of material fact and, if yes, the trial court does not resolve disputed issues of fact. Jenkins v. Eastover Bank for Savings, 606 So. 2d 105 (Miss. 1992). In this case, the trial court impermissibly weighed the evidence and resolved the ultimate issues in the case.

At the hearing, the trial court concluded:

From the argument that you've presented, it appears to me that the - looking at these photographs, I don't see how in the world this tire could have been purchased in November of '97, and in February of '98 look like it looks. Because if it was in that bad of shape that it dry rotted on the rack, I don't even know that it would have held air when they put air in there to mount it on the rim. I've had some personal experience with these what I call 'may pop' tires, and that's what this looks like is one of those may pops. You got to the tire store and you buy it and it may pop at any time after you get out of there with it. This, and I'm not an expert, but I know one thing, this tire has got more than 3 to 4,000 miles on it. I just don't see how it could be the tire.

(V. 3, p. 23). The trial court granted summary judgment to Dunlop by its own observations and its own assessment of the evidence. This was not for the trial court to do, and

therefore summary judgment should not have been granted.

## E. Summary Judgment Not Warranted Pursuant to Rule 56

Dunlop filed a Motion for Summary Judgment in which one issue was raised: Was the Dunlop tire in the possession of Borne the tire that was on the Ford Explorer at the time of the accident? Dunlop stated in its Motion for Summary Judgment:

Plaintiffs have absolutely no factual evidence to support their allegation that the Dunlop tire in their possession was mounted on the subject vehicle at the time of the accident. ... [T]he undisputed factual testimony and physical evidence in this case unequivocally proves that the Dunlop tire in Plaintiffs' possession could not have been mounted on the subject vehicle at the time of the accident.

(R. 48-49). Dunlop's counsel conceded this was the only issue during oral argument on the Motion for Summary Judgment:

So everything that we have indicates that the tire that they had is not the tire that was on the vehicle at the time of the accident. And there's nothing else to do.

(V. 3, p. 20). Therefore, if there were genuine issues of material fact concerning this issue, then summary judgment should not have been granted.

The failure of a party to establish all links in the chain of custody implicates the weight to be accorded the evidence by the jury, not its admissibility. Muscolino v. State, 803 So. 2d 1240, 1244 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002). Establishing a proper chain of custody has never required the proponent to produce every person who handled the object, nor to account for every moment of the day. Pittman v. State, 904 So. 2d 1185, 1191 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004). The test is whether or not there is any indication or reasonable inference of probable tampering with the evidence or substitution of the evidence. Gibson v. State, 503 So. 2d 230, 234 (Miss. 1987).

In support of its Motion, Dunlop relied upon an elaborate sequence of events based

on Borne's recollection of events, odometer readings, and the Affidavit of its own "Tire Performance Manager." Dunlop's Tire Performance Manager was permitted to examine the Dunlop tire in Bourne's possession and expressed an opinion that the Dunlop tire had excessive tire tread wear and that it was "physically impossible" that the tire in the Plaintiff's possession could be in its current position after 3,000 to 4,000 miles of use. (R. 54). Dunlop argued, therefore, that Borne could not establish that the Dunlop tire in his possession was the tire mounted on the right rear of the vehicle at the time of the accident. (R. 56).

The affidavit of Dunlop's own Tire Performance Manager did **not** address whether the tire was defective. (R. 181). Dunlop made no effort to qualify its Manager as an expert and did not provide his education, qualification, and experience. Instead, Dunlop's Manager expressed his opinion that if the subject tire had been purchased at the time alleged by the Plaintiff, it would be "impossible" for the tire to exhibit the wear and tear he observed after 3,000 to 4,000 miles of use. The **only opinion expressed in the Affidavit** was that the subject tire "could not have been on the vehicle at the time of the accident." (R. 184).

The only issue before the Court, therefore, was whether there was a genuine issue of material fact regarding whether the Dunlop tire in Borne's possession was the tire on the Ford Explorer at the time of the accident. Contrary to Dunlop's assertions, in Borne's opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment, he presented the Affidavit of United States District Court Judge Jay C. Zainey, the original attorney for Borne. Judge Zainey stated the following:

- His firm investigated the motor vehicle accident in which Bourne was injured and Mr. Dupree was killed;
- His records indicate that on April 8, 1998, his firm requested the tire from the vehicle from State Farm;
- His employee, Wayne Parker, traveled to Long Beach, Mississippi, and retrieved the subject tire;
- The tire was sent to a consultant and then returned to his possession and placed in storage in New Orleans, Louisiana;
- The tire remained in this storage facility until it was turned over to Borne's subsequent attorney, Mark Lumpkin.

(R. 257-58).

Based upon Judge Zainey's Affidavit, Borne properly rebutted Dunlop's claim that summary judgment should be granted. The ultimate issue in this case was whether the tire was defective, and it is undisputed that the Dunlop tire on Borne's Ford Explorer caused the accident. The only issue before the trial court, therefore, was whether the tire in Borne's possession was indeed the tire that was on the Ford Explorer.

Judge Zainey's Affidavit clearly created a genuine issue of material fact on this question. Judge Zainey explained the chain of custody from the time of the accident until the tire was turned over to Borne's attorney. Any questions about this chain of custody of the tire would go to the weight of the evidence, not its admissibility. Judge Zainey's Affidavit should have been considered by the trial court, and the Motion for Summary Judgment should have been denied.

### D. Judge Zainey's Affidavit Improperly Stricken at Hearing on Motion

At the hearing, Dunlop moved for the first time to strike the Affidavit of Judge Zainey. (V. 3, p. 5). Borne's counsel vigorously objected to this issue being brought up for the first time at the hearing and no formal motion having been filed. (V. 3, p. 6). Counsel for Dunlop conceded, "We will file it today. We will give you a copy. You will have, under the rules, time to respond to that." (V. 3, p. 7). Counsel for Dunlop then apparently changed his mind and countered, "We don't believe it's necessary to file a motion to strike the affidavit." (V. 3, p. 7).

This is incorrect. A party claiming that an affidavit is insufficient must file *a timely motion* or any defects are waived. <u>Van v. Grand Casinos of Mississippi, Inc.</u>, 767 So. 2d 1014, 1023 (Miss. 2000), citing <u>Auto Drive-Away Co. of Hialeah</u>, <u>Inc. v. Interstate Commerce Comm'n</u>, 360 F.2d 446, 448-49 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1966). The Mississippi Supreme Court has stated:

Where the party against whom a motion for summary judgment is made wishes to attack one or more of the affidavits upon which the motion is based, he must *file in the trial court a motion to strike* the affidavit.

Brown v. Credit Ctr., Inc., 444 So. 2d 358, 365 (Miss. 1983) (emphasis added). "Failure to file the motion to strike constitutes waiver of any objection to the affidavit." Board of Education of Calhoun Co. v. Warner, 853 So. 2d 1159, 1163 (Miss. 2003).

It is undisputed that Dunlop did not file a motion to strike the affidavit provided by Borne. It is undisputed that Dunlop first raised the issue of the sufficiency of the affidavit at the hearing before the trial court and that Borne was not provided an opportunity to respond to the motion to strike and/or correct any alleged deficiencies in the affidavit. The

trial court erred, therefore, in granting Dunlop's request to strike the affidavit. The trial court should have considered the Affidavit or provided Borne an opportunity to respond to a properly filed Motion to Strike Affidavit.

Nevertheless, the Affidavit of Judge Zainey was not insufficient under Rule 56(e). Counsel for Dunlop argued that the Affidavit was not on "personal knowledge" of Judge Zainey and that it did not state that he was competent to testify as to the matters asserted. (V. 3, p. 8). Later, counsel for Dunlop asserted that the issue was one of "hearsay problems" in the Affidavit but never identified any specific evidentiary rule or alleged "hearsay" rule that was violated. (V. 3, p. 17). The trial court, without requiring a timely motion and without providing Bourne an opportunity to respond, held, "The affidavit that's given by Judge Zainey, in my opinion, is not sufficient in that it does not meet the requirements of Rule 56(e)." (V. 3, p. 25).

Pursuant to Rule 56(e), an affidavit shall be made on personal knowledge, shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matter stated therein. <u>See M.R.C.P. 56(e)</u>. Formal defects in an affidavit are ordinarily waived. <u>Van v. Grand Casinos of Mississippi, Inc.</u>, 767 So. 2d 1014, 1023 (Miss. 2000).

The objections to Judge Zainey's affidavit were without merit and - had Borne been provided timely notice and an opportunity to respond - could have been easily cured. First, Dunlop stated at the hearing that the Affidavit was not on "personal knowledge" and did not affirmatively state that Judge Zainey was "competent to testify." The trial court could take judicial notice that Judge Zainey - a fellow judge recently approved for a federal judgeship - was competent to testify. Dunlop's argument regarding "personal knowledge" fares no

better. Although Judge Zainey's Affidavit does not affirmatively state that it is based on his personal knowledge, it is clear that the statements made in the Affidavit are based on his personal knowledge. Judge Zainey specifically states that he is basing the Affidavit on his own recollection and on his own records.

The only "objection" remaining, therefore, is Dunlop's broad assertion of "hearsay problems." Dunlop failed to set forth any specific hearsay objection and therefore it was impossible for Borne to adequately respond. Furthermore, no statements in Judge Zainey's affidavit go to prove the truth of the matter asserted and therefore they do not constitute "hearsay." Judge Zainey based his statements on his own recollection of events or review of his records, a hearsay exception under Rule 803(5).

#### VIII.

#### CONCLUSION

For these reasons, the Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment should have been denied.