IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2008-CA-00078

MARCO J. BORNE AND THE ESTATE OF ELDRIDGE DUPREE, DECEASED, BY AND THROUGH HIS PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE, NICHOLE DUPREE, AND THE WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF ELDRIDGE DUPREE, DECEASED

Appellant

VS.

DUNLOP TIRE CORPORATION, INC.

Appellee

Appeal of the Final Judgment of the Rankin County Circuit Court, Honorable Samac Richardson Circuit Judge in Cause No. 2001-228 CIB

BRIEF OF APPELLEE DUNLOP TIRE CORPORATION, INC.

ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED

LeAnn W. Nealey, BUTLER, SNOW, O'MARA, STEVENS & CANNADA, PLLC
P. O. Box 22567

Jackson, MS 39225 Tel: 601-985-4581 Fax: 601-985-4500

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Plaintiffs in this lawsuit allege the Dunlop RV Radial Rover M-S, 30X9.50R15LT, 1035-22, DOT#:DA66635334 tire was defective and caused their alleged damages. As an essential element of their claim, therefore, Plaintiffs must show that the Dunlop RV Radial Rover they *present* as the accident tire was, in fact, the allegedly defective tire mounted on Borne's 1992 Ford Explorer at the time of the accident.

In moving for summary judgment on Plaintiffs' inability to show this essential element of their products liability action, Dunlop presented explicit evidence that shows that the Dunlop RV Radial Rover could not have been the accident tire. The burden then shifts to Plaintiffs to "produce significant probative evidence showing that there are indeed genuine issues for trial." Price v. Purdue Pharma Co., 920 So. 2d 479, 485 (Miss. 2006) (emphasis added), citing McMichael v. Nu-Way Steel & Supply, Inc., 563 So. 2d 1371, 1375 (Miss. 1990) (quoting Newell v. Hinton, 556 So. 2d 1037, 1041 (Miss. 1990)).

Plaintiffs failed to meet this burden. In particular, Borne testified he traveled between 3,000 and 4,000 miles with the new Dunlop tires in the two months and 21 days that elapsed

there was excessive treadwear on the tire presented by Plaintiffs as the accident tire. As explained in the Johnson Affidavit, if Borne purchased as new the Dunlop RV Radial Rover on November 28, 1997 (as Borne testified in deposition); then it is physically impossible that the tire tread could be in its current condition after just over two months and 3,000 to 4,000 miles of use. Plaintiffs offered no evidence in opposing Dunlop's summary judgment motion that refuted Mr. Johnson's testimony.

Nor did Plaintiffs offer any evidence rebutting the fact that the tire they *present* as the accident tire is missing a significant amount of tread indicative of tread separation -- but the testimony of the investigating state trooper, Joseph Johnson, established that there was no evidence of "a tread separation. . . [or] recap slinging off" at the accident scene. R. 228 (p. 61:4-16; p. 62-64:6).

The only items relied upon by Plaintiffs in rebuttal were (i) the unsupported allegations of their Complaint and discovery responses and (ii) the Zainey Affidavit. Unsupported allegations cannot defeat a motion for summary judgment (see, e.g., Richardson v. Norfolk S. Ry., 923 So. 2d 1002, 1008 (Miss. 2006)); and the Zainey Affidavit is both facially and substantively insufficient. Specifically, the Zainey Affidavit does not meet the affidavit requirements of Miss. R. Civ. P. 56(e); and substantively, the Zainey Affidavit wholly fails to set forth "specific facts" that Judge Zainey actually saw or examined the Dunlop RV Radial Rover M-S, 30X9.50R15LT, 1035-22, DOT#:DA66635334; nor does Judge Zainey address in any way the physical condition of the tire. In short, Plaintiffs presented no probative evidence showing that the Dunlop RV Radial Rover M-S, 30X9.50R15LT, 1035-22, DOT#:DA66635334 was the actual accident tire. Accordingly, Summary judgment in Dunlop's favor is warranted here.

LAW AND ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review.

This Court "employ[s] the *de novo* standard in reviewing a trial court's grant of summary judgment." *Brown ex rel. Ford v. J.J. Ferguson Sand & Gravel Co.*, 858 So. 2d 129, 130 (Miss. 2003), citing *O'Neal Steel, Inc. v. Millette*, 797 So. 2d 869, 872 (Miss. 2001). In conducting a *de novo* review, the Court looks "at all evidentiary matters before [it], including admissions in pleadings, answers to interrogatories, depositions, and affidavits." *Brown*, 858 So. 2d at 130 (citations omitted); *see Newell v. Hinton*, 556 So. 2d 1037, 1041 (Miss. 1990), *citing Dennis v. Searle*, 457 So. 2d 941, 944 (Miss. 1984).

B. Plaintiffs' Burden of Proof and the Court's Role in Assessing the Evidence Presented.

Plaintiffs suggest that it is "impermissible" for the trial court (or presumably this Court upon *de novo* review) "to resolve issues of fact" on summary judgment (Appellants' Brief at 3-4); but this suggestion incorrectly characterizes the Court's role in assessing whether a plaintiff's claim will survive summary judgment. Contrary to Plaintiffs' suggestion, the trial court — and this Court upon *de novo* review — must assess the evidence presented to determine whether Plaintiffs may proceed with their lawsuit.

In particular, the Court must determine whether Plaintiffs, in rebutting Dunlop's summary judgment motion, have furnished "significant probative evidence showing that there are indeed genuine issues for trial." *Price v. Purdue Pharma Co.*, 920 So. 2d 479, 485 (Miss. 2006) (citations omitted)). The evidence necessary to meet this burden must be evidence upon which "a fair-minded jury could return a favorable verdict." *Wilbourn v. Stennett, Wilkinson & Ward*, 687 So. 2d 1205, 1214 (Miss. 1996), citing *Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.*, 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986).

Thus, though the moving party has the burden of demonstrating the absence of a genuine issue of material fact; the non-movant "must rebut by producing significant probative evidence showing that there are indeed genuine issues for trial." *Price*, 920 So. 2d at 485 (emphasis added), citing *McMichael v. Nu-Way Steel & Supply, Inc.*, 563 So.2d 1371, 1375 (Miss.1990) (quoting *Newell v. Hinton*, 556 So.2d 1037, 1041 (Miss.1990)). In rebuttal, "[m]ere allegations are insufficient to defeat a motion for summary judgment." *Richardson v. Norfolk S. Ry.*, 923 So. 2d 1002, 1008 (Miss. 2006). The party opposing the motion must set forth specific facts that show that a genuine issue of fact exists. *Newell*, 556 So. 2d at 1041-42; see *Richardson*, 923 So. 2d at 1008; *Luvene v. Waldrup*, 903 So. 2d 745, 748-49 (Miss. 2005).

Rule 56 mandates the entry of summary judgment where the non-moving party fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to his case on which he bears the burden of proof at trial. *Grisham v. John Q. Long V.F.W. Post, No. 4057, Inc.*, 519 So. 2d 413, 416 (Miss. 1988); see Evan Johnson & Sons Const., Inc. v. State, 877 So. 2d 360, 365 (Miss. 2004). Moreover, to survive summary judgment, each element of the plaintiff's claim must be based on more than a scintilla of evidence. *Wilbourn*, 687 So. 2d at 1214 (citation omitted). The evidence required to survive summary judgment "must be evidence upon which a fair-minded jury could return a favorable verdict." *Id*.

- C. Summary Judgment in Dunlop's Favor is Warranted Because Plaintiffs Cannot Show that the Allegedly Defective Tire They Present Was the Product That Actually Caused Their Alleged Damages.
 - 1. Plaintiffs Have the Burden of Proving the Allegedly Defective Tire They Present Was the Product That Actually Caused Their Alleged Damages.

Plaintiffs allege in their Complaint that the Dunlop tires on the Borne vehicle were "defective" and "unreasonably dangerous" (R. 16-29), characterizing their lawsuit as a "products liability case" (Appellants' Brief at 1) which is delineated under the Mississippi Products Liability Act, Miss. Code Ann. 11-1-63 (1993 and Supp. 2008) (the "MPLA"). In order to

prevail on their MPLA claim, Plaintiffs must show by a preponderance of the evidence that the Dunlop RV Radial Rover M-S, 30X9.50R15LT, 1035-22, DOT#:DA66635334 contained some type of defect rendering the tire unreasonably dangerous and that the defective and unreasonably dangerous condition of the tire proximately caused their damages. *See* Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-63(a).

More fundamentally, however, and particularly relevant in this case, is that every plaintiff in a products liability action must first prove that the allegedly defective product was the product that actually caused the alleged damage. *Id.; see Monsanto Co. v. Hall*, 912 So. 2d 134, 136-37 (Miss. 2005) (failure to identify manufacturer's products as products which caused damages precluded plaintiffs from recovering against manufacturer); *Albritton v. Coleman Co.*, 813 F. Supp. 450, 454 (S.D. Miss. 1992) ("The essential element of the plaintiffs' case is the identification of the named defendant as the manufacturer or supplier of the defective product in question.").

Plaintiffs here allege the Dunlop RV Radial Rover tire was defective and caused their alleged damages. Plaintiffs must therefore show that the Dunlop RV Radial Rover they present as the accident tire was, in fact, the allegedly defective tire mounted on Borne's 1992 Ford Explorer at the time of the accident. Plaintiffs' failure to do so requires summary judgment in Dunlop's favor. See Velleca v. Uniroyal Tire Co., Inc. 630 N.E. 2d 297, 299 (Mass. Ct. App. 1994) (affirming trial court's judgment notwithstanding the verdict based on plaintiff's failure "to prove that the tire and rim introduced into evidence were those involved in the accident."); see also Albritton, 813 F. Supp. at 454 (granting manufacturers' motion for summary judgment where plaintiffs failed to establish that defendants manufactured the subject furnace); Hall, 912 So. 2d at 136-37 (reversing trial court's refusal to grant summary judgment in manufacturer's favor where plaintiffs failed to identify manufacturer's products as those causing his damages).

2. The Dunlop Tire Could Not Have Been Mounted on the Vehicle at the Time of the Accident.

In support of its motion for summary judgment, Dunlop presented unrefuted evidence that shows that the Dunlop RV Radial Rover M-S, 30X9.50R15LT, 1035-22, DOT#:DA66635334 could not have been the tire actually mounted on the right rear of Borne's 1992 Ford Explorer at the time of the accident. The burden then shifts to Plaintiffs to "set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial." Miss. R. Civ. P. 56(e); see Hurst v. Southwest Mississippi Legal Services Corp., 610 So. 2d 374, 383 (Miss. 1992). The only items relied upon by Plaintiffs in rebuttal, however, were the unsupported allegations of their Complaint and discovery responses; and the substantively and facially insufficient Zainey Affidavit. In short, Plaintiffs presented no probative evidence showing that the Dunlop RV Radial Rover M-S, 30X9.50R15LT, 1035-22, DOT#:DA66635334 was the actual accident tire.

a. Borne's Own Timeline and The Affidavit Of Dunlop's Tire Performance Manager, Thomas Johnson, Show The Tire Presented By Plaintiffs Could Not Have Been The Accident Tire.

Based on Plaintiffs' own factual timeline and an objective examination of the subject tire's tread depth, it is a physical impossibility that the Dunlop RV Radial Rover M-S, 30X9.50R15LT, 1035-22, DOT#:DA66635334 presented as the subject tire by Plaintiffs was mounted on the vehicle at the time of the accident. Here is why:

- Borne purchased three *new* Dunlop replacement tires on November 24, 1997 and had them mounted onto his 1992 Ford Explorer. R. 20; R. 96-97; R. 120 (p. 60:14-18).
- Plaintiffs' accident occurred on February 14, 1998, two months and 21 days after the new Dunlop tires were mounted. R. 69; R. 80-88.
- Borne testified in deposition that he traveled between 3,000 and 4,000 miles with the new Dunlop tires during that two month and 21 day period. R. 166 (p. 243:1-7).
- The Dunlop RV Radial Rover M-S, 30X9.50R15LT, 1035-22, DOT#:DA66635334 was manufactured in the 33rd week of 1994 and thoroughly examined by Dunlop's Tire Performance Manager, Thomas Johnson. R. 81-84.

• Mr. Johnson's physical examination revealed excessive tread wear, measuring 4/32nds of inch groove depth down to 2/32nds and 0/32nds inches at the serial side shoulder. *Id*.

Mr. Johnson's unrefuted opinion is that it is physically impossible for a new tire to exhibit the measured treadwear after only 3,000 to 4,000 miles of use. Based on Plaintiffs' timeline the Dunlop RV Radial Rover M-S, 30X9.50R15LT, 1035-22, DOT#:DA66635334 presented by Plaintiffs could not have been mounted on the 1992 Ford Explorer on the February 18, 1998 date of the accident.

b. Additional Factual Testimony Shows That The Tire Presented By Plaintiffs Could Not Have Been The Accident Tire.

In addition to the physical and expert evidence cited above, the uncontroverted factual testimony in this case further proves that the tire presented by Plaintiffs is not the tire mounted on the vehicle at the time of the accident:

- The tire presented by Plaintiffs is missing a significant amount of tread indicative of tread separation. R. 175-79; D.R.E. 61-65; see R. 183-84.
- In contrast, the investigating state trooper, Joseph Johnson, testified in his deposition that his personal inspection of the tire at the accident scene revealed nothing more than a blowout; his inspection did not reveal a tread separation: "It appeared to be a blowout. . . . I don't mean -- I mean a blowout, . . . not a tread separation, not a recap slinging off." R. 228 (p. 61:4-16; p. 62-64:6).
- To the extent the tire suffered tread separation and the scene contained evidence of tread separation, Trooper Johnson testified that he would have noted that in his report. *Id.*
- 3. Plaintiffs Did Not Meet Their Burden Of Showing, By Significant Probative Evidence, That The Tire They Presented Was The Accident Tire.

In the face of the evidence Dunlop presented, Plaintiffs "must rebut by producing significant probative evidence showing that there are indeed genuine issues for trial" (Price, 920 So. 2d at 485 (citations omitted) (emphasis added)) -- evidence upon which "a fair-minded jury could return a favorable verdict." Wilbourn, 687 So. 2d at 1214. Specifically, Plaintiffs were

required to submit "significant probative evidence" that the Dunlop RV Radial Rover M-S, 30X9.50R15LT, 1035-22, DOT#:DA66635334 -- presented as the subject tire by Plaintiffs -- was mounted on the vehicle at the time of the accident.

Other than the mere allegations contained in their Complaint and discovery responses ("insufficient to defeat a motion for summary judgment" (*Richardson*, 923 So. 2d at 1008)); the only "evidence" Plaintiffs relied upon in rebutting Dunlop's summary judgment motion was the Zainey Affidavit. R. 244-45 (originally filed on June 24, 2005 (D.R.E. 46-53)). The Zainey Affidavit, however, is insufficient on its face; and, more importantly, it is substantively deficient. The Zainey Affidavit wholly fails to rebut the evidence Dunlop presented which shows the tire presented is not the accident tire.

a. The Zainey Affidavit is Deficient as to Form.

As an initial matter, the Zainey Affidavit is deficient because it is not based on the affiant's personal knowledge, but rather is written in terms of the affiant's ability to "best recall" the information stated therein. See R. 244-45. Nor does the Zainey Affidavit affirmatively state the affiant was competent to testify as to the matter stated therein. Id. An affidavit must contain these elements under Miss. R. Civ. P. 56(e). Plaintiffs' failure to include them in the Zainey Affidavit are grounds for this Court, on de novo review, to disregard the Zainey Affidavit in its entirety. See Briscoe's Foodland, Inc. v. Capital Associates, Inc., 502 So. 2d 619, 622 (Miss. 1986) (recognizing as deficient affidavit not based on personal knowledge and failing to state affiant was competent to testify).

Plaintiffs inexplicably contend, however, that (i) Dunlop "first raised the issue of the sufficiency of the [Zainey] affidavit at the [summary judgment] hearing;" and (ii) Plaintiffs were "not provided an opportunity to respond to . . . and/or correct any alleged deficiencies in the

affidavit." Appellants' Brief at 7. These statements are incorrect and Plaintiffs' suggestion that Dunlop waived its deficiency objections is meritless. *See* Appellants' Brief at 7-8.

To be clear, the Zainey Affidavit had been in the court record since June 2005 when Plaintiffs filed it as supplementation to their opposition to Dunlop's motion for a protective order. D.R.E. 46-53. Dunlop raised the issue of its deficiencies in its opening brief supporting its summary judgment motion (R. 58) -- and <u>Plaintiffs addressed the merits of Dunlop's assertions in their opposition to Dunlop's motion</u>. R. 249-50. Plaintiffs' argument that a formal motion to strike was necessary is simply a red herring: Dunlop briefed its objections and Plaintiffs responded. The parties reiterated their arguments at the summary judgment hearing.

Plaintiffs also suggest that the Zainey Affidavit was "improperly stricken" at the hearing on Dunlop's summary judgment motion (Appellant's Brief at 7-8) -- but there was no ruling to that effect by the trial court. Though the trial court did not strike the Zainey Affidavit, it did note its deficiencies in assessing whether Plaintiffs met their burden of proof in rebutting Dunlop's summary judgment motion. Tr. 25-26.

It is, of course, the role of the trial court -- and this Court sitting in *de novo* review -- to assess the sufficiency of any evidence before it in making its summary judgment determination. *Newell*, 556 So. 2d at 1042 (recognizing court, on summary judgment, must assess whether non-movant has brought forward "significant probative evidence demonstrating the existence of a triable issue of fact.") (emphasis added); see Price, 920 So. 2d at 485; McMichael, 563 So. 2d at 1375. The Court must ensure that the non-moving party's claim is "supported by more than a mere scintilla of colorable evidence" (Wilbourn, 687 So. 2d at 1214); and must determine if Plaintiffs here furnished sufficient evidence upon which "a fair-minded jury could return a favorable verdict." Id. The Court's role in this regard certainly encompasses determining the validity of supporting affidavits, whether a motion to strike is made or not. See Luvene v.

Waldrup, 903 So. 2d 745, 746-49 (Miss. 2005) (assessing sufficiency of summary judgment affidavit and finding it fatally defective (no motion to strike filed)); *Briscoe's*, 502 So. 2d at 622 (assessing sufficiency of summary judgment affidavits filed by both movant (Briscoe's) and non-movant (Capital) and finding both deficient, though only Briscoe's filed a motion to strike). Plaintiffs' implication that any such assessment is "improper" is unfounded.

b. The Zainey Affidavit is Substantively Deficient.

In any event, even if the Zainey Affidavit were in proper form, Plaintiffs still have wholly failed to rebut the evidence Dunlop presented in support of its summary judgment motion that shows the Dunlop RV Radial Rover M-S, 30X9.50R15LT, 1035-22, DOT#:DA66635334 could not have been the tire actually mounted on the right rear of Borne's 1992 Ford Explorer at the time of the accident. Indeed, Judge Zainey did not even link the averments in his affidavit to the tire Plaintiffs present as the accident tire: Nowhere in his affidavit did he attest that the Dunlop RV Radial Rover M-S, 30X9.50R15LT, 1035-22, DOT#:DA66635334 was the tire he describes therein.

The chain of custody cases Plaintiffs cite (Appellants' Brief at 4) do nothing to further their argument that the affidavit somehow creates a genuine issue of fact. In the cases Plaintiffs rely upon, the chain of custody was established by the witness directly involved in handling the objects at issue. See Gibson v. State, 503 So. 2d 230, 234 (Miss. 1987) (chain of custody on blood sample established by testimony of officer that witnessed the blood being drawn; obtained the vials of blood; placed them in a styrofoam kit and sealed it); Pittman v. State, 904 So. 2d 1185, 1190 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) (testimony of officer directly in charge of inventory of items recovered when search warrant executed on property held sufficient to establish chain of custody on items recovered); Muscolino v. State, 803 So. 2d 1240, 1244 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002) (weapon chain of custody established by Deputy's testimony that he seized the weapon from under

defendant's car seat and it was the same weapon identified in court). These cases have no applicability here where the Zainey Affidavit contains no statement whatsoever that Judge Zainey actually saw or examined the Dunlop RV Radial Rover M-S, 30X9.50R15LT, 1035-22, DOT#:DA66635334.

Nor does the Zainey Affidavit address, in any way, the condition of the tire Plaintiffs present as the accident tire. The affidavit does nothing to rebut the Affidavit of Dunlop's Tire Performance Manager, Thomas Johnson, in which Mr. Johnson affirmatively states that it is physically impossible for a new tire to exhibit the measured treadwear after only 3,000 to 4,000 miles of use (R. 181-84); an opinion buttressed by Borne's own testimony. R. 166 (p. 243:1-7).

Likewise, the Zainey Affidavit does not rebut the physical evidence of the tire itself which shows tread separation (R. 175-79; D.R.E. 61-65; see R. 183-84) -- as compared to the testimony of the investigating State Trooper Joseph Johnson who stated that he saw no evidence of "tread separation . . . or a recap slinging off" with respect to the tire he inspected at the accident scene. R. 228 (p. 61:4-16; p. 62-64:6).

Plaintiffs have the burden of showing by significant probative evidence that the Dunlop RV Radial Rover they *present* as the accident tire was, *in fact*, the allegedly defective tire mounted on Borne's 1992 Ford Explorer at the time of the accident. In opposing Dunlop's summary judgment motion, Plaintiffs rely solely on the Zainey Affidavit to rebut the explicit and detailed evidence Dunlop provided in support of its motion that shows the tire presented is not, in fact, the accident tire. Just as the Zainey Affidavit is deficient as to form, it is likewise deficient in substance.

The Zainey Affidavit wholly fails to set forth "specific facts" that Judge Zainey actually saw or examined the Dunlop RV Radial Rover M-S, 30X9.50R15LT, 1035-22, DOT#:DA66635334. Nor does it address in any way the physical condition of the tire.

Plaintiffs' sole evidentiary submission is silent on these issues and thus Plaintiffs cannot rebut the evidence submitted by Dunlop showing that the tire Plaintiffs present is not the accident tire. Because Plaintiffs did not provide the "significant probative evidence" sufficient to create a genuine issue of fact on this essential element of their products liability claim; summary judgment in Dunlop's favor is warranted. *See Luvene*, 903 So. 2d at 748-49 (affirming summary judgment where plaintiffs' rebuttal affidavit was silent on element of malpractice claim and thus failed to set forth "specific facts" sufficient to create a genuine issue of fact "and certainly did not provide more than 'a mere scintilla of colorable evidence."").

CONCLUSION

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